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Preface

This book was prepared by EY Thailand and EY Cambodia. It was
written to give the busy executive a quick overview of the investment
in Cambodia mainly covering taxation, investment incentives, forms
of business, and accounting practice.

Making decisions about foreign operations is complex and requires an
intimate knowledge of a country’'s commercial climate, with a
realization that the climate can change overnight. Companies doing
business in Cambodia, or planning to do so, are advised to obtain
current and detailed information from experienced professionals.
This book reflects information current at 30 April 2017.






A. Overview of foreign investment

A.1 Forms of business

Companies

A limited liability company (LLC) is a legal entity formed with capital
equally divided into shares. The minimum registered capital for
setting up the LLC is KHR 4 million, with a minimum share issuance of
1,000 shares and a par value of not less than KHR 4,000 per share.

To set up the LLC, the name of the company must first be checked
with the Ministry of Commerce (MOC). Subsequently, a Memorandum
of Association, Articles of Association and other prescribed documents
will have to be filed with the MOC.

Doing Business in Cambodia 2017 43



There are 3 types of the LLC in Cambodia as follows: -

Private limited company

The company is required to have at least 2 shareholders, but not
more than 30 shareholders. The shareholders can be juristic
person and/or individual.

Single member private limited company

The company must be owned by a single individual or a juristic
person. The company owner is allowed to appoint 1 or several
persons as authorized representative(s) for an unlimited term.
The foreigner is allowed to be the authorized representative of
the company.

Public limited company

A public company is authorized to issue securities offered in the
public and is required to have at least 3 directors.

A subsidiary is an LLC which is incorporated in Cambodia with at least
51% of its capital held by a foreign company. Currently, there is no
restriction prohibiting a foreign individual/company from holding
100% share capital of an LLC established in Cambodia, except for
certain businesses which will be discussed in Section A.2.

Partnership

A partnership can be formed by a contract either in the form of a
verbal or written agreement between 2 or more persons. In
accordance with the Law of Commercial Enterprise, a partnership can
be either an ordinary partnership or a limited partnership. The main
difference between the two is the extent to which partners will be
liable to the partnership debts.

In Cambodia, the partnership is generally a favored legal form for
professionals, such as doctors, lawyers and accountants.
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Branch office

A foreign corporation may establish a branch office to conduct their
business in Cambodia. The branch office will be regarded as the same
entity as the head office in overseas.

The foreign corporation who desires to set up a branch office in
Cambodia is subject to the registration requirements of the MOC. The
business name of the branch office is required to consist of the word
“Branch” placed either before or after the name of the head office.

A branch office can engage in the non-profit generating activities
similar to a representative office (see below) and can undertake
profit-seeking activities, such as buying and selling goods, providing
services or engaging in manufacturing, processing or construction
businesses, provided that such activities are not prohibited by laws.

Representative office

Representative office is mainly set up for the purpose of assisting a
head office in sourcing local supplies and/or collecting local
information. The representative office is prohibited from undertaking
profit-making activities including buying or selling goods, providing
services or engaging in manufacturing, processing or construction
businesses.

The representative office is allowed to carry out the activities listed
below: -

To contact customers for the purpose of introducing customers
to its head office

To conduct research with respect to commercial information and
provide information to its head office

To conduct market research

To market goods at trade fairs and exhibit samples and goods in
its office or at trade fairs
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To buy and maintain a quantity of goods for the purpose of trade
fairs

To rent an office and employ local employees

To enter into contracts with local customers on behalf of the
head office

A.2  Foreign ownership restrictions

Cambodia is an open economy with few restrictions on trade and
investment. It has a diverse economy, with a few principal industries
including agriculture, manufacturing and services. The restrictions
imposed by the government include prohibition on foreign
involvement in some activities to protect public health and
environment, including the following areas: -

Production/processing of psychotropic and narcotic substances

Production of poisonous chemicals and agricultural
pesticides/insecticides

Production/processing of electrical power using waste imported
from foreign countries

Forestry exploitation

The government also limits the rights of foreigners to have full
ownership in certain investment categories, e.g., gemstone mining,
rice milling, silk weaving, wood processing and stone carving.

A.3  Land ownership restrictions

Foreign investors are restricted from owning land in Cambodia.
However, foreigners are allowed to enter into renewable short-term
leases and long-term leases for a maximum period of 50 years.

The law also limits foreign ownership in buildings. Foreigners are
allowed to own the multi-story buildings only from the first floor up.
The ground floor and underground floors of the multi-story buildings
are prohibited to own by foreigners. In addition, foreigners are not
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allowed to own the multi-story buildings situated within 30 kilometers
from Cambodia’s borderline, except the multi-story buildings located
in the Special Economic Zones (SEZs), important urban areas and
other areas determined by the government.

A.4 Investment incentives

Under the Law on Investment of the Kingdom of Cambodia 1994
(amended and implemented in 2003), the Council for the
Development of Cambodia (CDC) encourages both Cambodian and
foreign investors to invest in Cambodia by offering an investment
promotion scheme which is called Qualified Investment Projects
(QIPs) to investors. Furthermore, the government has established the
Cambodian Special Economic Zone Board to facilitate investors under
the SEZ scheme.

Permission

Foreign investors may seek investment incentives by registering for
the QIPs status with the CDC. Investment incentives are normally
granted if the proposed projects are qualified.

A key qualification is that the amount of investment capital must
exceed the CDC's minimum requirement. The range of minimum
investment capital varies from approximately KHR 410 million to KHR
32 billion, depending on the types of business activities. For example,
projects investing in the manufacturing of garment and textile are
required to have the investment capital of not less than approximately
KHR 2 billion.

In addition, projects with an investment capital not exceeding
approximately KHR 8.2 billion are required to register with the local
investment sub-committee in the province where the project is
located.
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Tax incentives

There are 2 major tax incentive schemes offered in Cambodia: Tax on
Income (TOI) exemption and application of special depreciation rate,
whereby the QIPs are entitled to select only one of them.

If the QIPs opt for the TOIl exemption, it will be entitled to the
corporate income tax exemption on its net taxable profits. The
minimum tax holiday period will always be at least 3 years for a
QIP. However, the day that QIP earns its first profits, if any,
and/or its first revenue will determine the commencement of the
tax holiday period. For some industries, the government may, at
its discretion, provide an additional 2 or 3 years tax holiday
period.

If QIPs opt for the special depreciation rates, the tangible
properties used in production or processing can be depreciated at
a rate of 40% per annum.

Under both options, QIPs are exempt from Cambodia’'s minimum tax
and import and export duties.

Each tax year, QIPs are required to obtain a Certificate of Compliance
(CoC) from the CDC in order to exercise their entitlement to
investment incentives. The CoC provides confirmation that the QIP
has complied with the relevant tax regulations.

Projects located in the SEZs

To boost up industrial and export activities, the government has
established SEZs, which facilitate the foreign investment project with
the sufficient infrastructure and utilities. The QIPs located in the SEZs
are entitled to the following incentives: -

All of the tax incentives granted to the QIPs mentioned above

0% Value Added Tax (VAT) will be applicable to all import
transactions into the SEZs. However, in the case where some
production outputs are imported into the domestic market, the
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SEZ investor will be required to proportionally pay the VAT at the
normal rate.

Some of the SEZs in Cambodia are: -

Dragon King SEZ, Svay Rieng

H.K.T SEZ, Sihanoukville

Kampot SEZ, Kampot

Manhattan SEZ, Svay Rieng

Neang Kok Koh Kong SEZ, Koh Kong

Phnom Penh SEZ, Phnom Penh

Poi Pet O'Neang SEZ, Banteay Meanchey
Sanco Poi Pet SEZ, Banteay Meanchey
Sihanoukville Port SEZ, Sihanoukville
Sihanoukville SEZ 1 and Sihanoukville SEZ 2, Sihanoukville
Shandong Sunshell Svay Rieng SEZ, Svay Rieng
Suvannaphum SEZ, Kandal

Tai Seng Bavet SEZ, Svay Rieng
Guarantees

The law governing investment in Cambodia offers guarantees on the
following issues: -

Non-discrimination against foreign investors, except for land-
ownership

Nationalization policy

Price control

Foreign exchange control
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Restrictions on foreign investment projects

Although foreign investors are encouraged by the CDC to register as
the QIPs, certain foreign investment projects are not qualified for
investment incentives. These include investment projects engaging
in the following types of businesses: -

Merchandising, such as wholesale, retail and duty free shop

Banking and financial services

Media and publishing, such as movie production, newspapers and
radio

Professional services
Casinos and gambling
Tourism services

Other business whose investment capital is less than the minimum
investment capital specified for that particular industry by the
CDC

Foreign exchange controls

There is no foreign exchange control on the transfer of funds and
overseas payments through authorized banks, although transfer of
funds of approximately KHR 41 million or more must be reported by
the banks to the National Bank of Cambodia (NBC).

The QIPs can freely remit payments relating to their investments,
including payments for imports, royalty, management fee, repayment
of loan and interest, repatriation of investment capital and dividend
without the reporting requirement above.
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B. Taxation

11 |

B.1  Corporate income tax

At a glance
Descriptions Rate (%)

Tax on Income (TOD) 20
Capital gains tax 20
Withholding tax on payments to resident taxpayers: -

Interest paid to recipients other than domestic banks and 15

savings institutions

Interest paid on non-fixed term savings accounts by 4

domestic banks or savings institutions

Interest paid on fixed-term savings accounts by domestic 6

banks or savings institutions
Royalties 15
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Descriptions Rate (%)
Rental paid for movable and immovable properties 10

Payments to individuals for services, including 15
management, consultation and similar services

Withholding tax on payments to non-resident taxpayers: -

Interest paid by a resident enterprise of Cambodia 14
Dividends distributed by a resident enterprise 14
Income from services performed in Cambodia 14
Compensation for management and technical services 14
paid by a resident person

Income from movable or immovable property, if such 14
property is situated in Cambodia

Royalties from the use, or right to use intangible property 14
paid by a resident/permanent establishment (PE) in

Cambodia

Gain from the sale of immovable property located in 14

Cambodia or from the transfer of any interest in
immovable property situated in Cambodia

Premiums from insurance of risks in Cambodia 14
Income from business activities carried on by a non- 14
resident through a PE in Cambodia

Gain from the sale of movable property which is part of 14

the business property of a PE in Cambodia

Scope of corporate income tax

In Cambodia, TOl is equivalent to corporate income tax. The taxable
income for TOI calculation purposes includes business income, capital
gains and passive income, e.q., interest, royalties and rental fee.

The resident taxpayers are subject to the TOl on their worldwide
income and the non-resident taxpayers are subject to the TOIl on their
Cambodia-sourcedincome. A legal entity is regarded as a tax resident
if it is established, organized, managed or has a principal place of
business in Cambodia. On the other hand, the non-resident taxpayer
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is foreign enterprise receiving Cambodian-sourced income in
Cambodia.

The standard TOI rate is 20%.

A tax rate of 30% is applicable on income derived from oil or natural
gas under production sharing contracts and from the exploitation of
natural resources including timber, ore, gold and precious stones.

A tax rate of 5% is imposed on the gross premium income of the
insurance companies engaged in providing insurance or reinsurance
for property or other risks. However, the insurance companies
engaged in providing life insurance or reinsurance in form of savings
products and any other products not related to the insurance or
reinsurance of physical property or other risks is subject to standard
TOl rate of 20%.

Minimum tax

Minimum tax will only be applicable to the company that does not
maintain the proper accounting records.

Minimum tax is a separate annual tax imposed at a rate of 1% of annual
turnover inclusive of all taxes, except VAT. If the TOl liability exceeds
the minimum tax, the taxpayer will be not liable to pay the minimum
tax.

Additional Profit Tax on Dividend Distribution

Additional Profit Tax on Dividend Distribution (APTDD) at the rate of
20% is imposed on distribution of dividend and remittance of profit,
which have not been taxed, to local and/or overseas shareholders.
Therefore, the distribution of profit/dividend, which have already
been taxed at the rates of 20% or 30%, are not subject to APTDD.
APTDD is payable by the distributing company.
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Capital gains

Capital gains and gains derived from the disposal of corporation’s
capital assets are considered as ordinary income and subject to the
standard TOI rate of 20%.

Assessable income

Taxable profit equals the difference between total income and allowed
expenses that are incurred from carrying on the business.

Deductible expenses

Allowable deductions include most expenses incurred in the course of
carrying on the business with certain limitations. These limitations
include the following: -

The deduction of charitable contributions to organizations as
specified by the law is limited to 5% of taxable profit before
deducting the amount of the charitable contributions

Depreciation is allowed as a deduction in accordance with the
rates and methods set forth in the tax regulations (see tax
depreciation rate and methods in Tax depreciation and
amortization below)

Deduction of interest expenses is subject to the special rules of
interest rate (see Special rules for interest rate below)

Non-deductible expenses

54

Expenses incurred on activities generally considered to be
amusement, recreation, entertainment or related to such
activities

Losses on direct or indirect sales or exchanges of property
between related parties

Additional tax, penalties and late payment interest imposed as a
result of the violation of tax regulations
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Donations, grants or subsidies to organizations other than those
specified by the law

Provisions

Provisions are not allowed as expenses for tax purposes. However,
domestic banks or saving institutions can treat some provisions for
bad debts of certain types of loan as deductible expenses.

Tax depreciation and amortization

The following table sets forth the allowed depreciation method and
the annual depreciating rates for depreciable asset for tax purposes.

Type of assets Method Rate (%)
Buildings and structures Straight-line 5
Computers, electronic -

. . Declining-
information systems, software 50
. . balance
and data handling equipment
Automobiles, trucks, office Declining-
. . 25
furniture and equipment balance
. . Declining-
Other tangible properties balance 20

The QIP can elect to apply a special depreciation rate of 40% on the
value of the new or used tangible properties used in the production or
processing in the year of purchase or in the first year the tangible
assets used in the operations. However, if the QIP elects to receive
the TOI exemption privilege, the special depreciation rate will not be
allowed.

Intangible assets with a limited useful life, such as patents,
copyrights, drawings, models and franchises, can be amortized over
their useful lifetime on a straight-line basis. If the lifetime of the
intangible assets cannot be determined, the assets must be
amortized using the straight-line method at a rate of 10%.
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Foreign tax relief

With supporting document, a credit is allowed for tax paid overseas
on income accruing to Cambodian company.

Tax loss carried forward

The carryback of losses is not allowed. Tax losses can be carried
forward to offset future taxable profit for up to 5 years if they meet
the following conditions: -

Must be recorded in a TOI return and supported by accounting
books and records

No change of ownership
No change of business objectives

No unilateral tax assessment by the General Department of
Taxation (GDT)

Tax consolidation concept

Consolidated tax filing is not allowed in Cambodia. The losses of one
company cannot be used to reduce the profits of an affiliate.

Special rules for interest rate

Interest-free or below-market interest rate loanis allowed. For above-
market-interest loan, the following limitations are imposed on the
deductible interest expenses that can be claimed by Cambodian
taxpayers.

For interest on a third-party loan, the deductible interest rate
must not exceed 120% of the market interest rate at the time of
borrowing.

For a related-party loan, the maximum deductible interest rate is
the market interest rate at the time of borrowing.
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For this purpose, the market interest rate can be referred from the
annual market interest rate issued by the GDT. In 2016, the GDT
announced market interest rates of 9.47% per annum for USD
currency loans and 15.24% per annum for loans denominated in KHR.

Any interest expense in excess of that payable at the market interest
rate is non-deductible for tax purposes. In addition, the annual
deductible interest expense is capped at 50% of the taxpayer's non-
interest net profit plus 100% of its interest income in the same tax
year. Disallowed interest expenses may be carried forward to
subsequent years, subject to the same deduction limitations.

An enterprise entered into the loan transaction is required to notify
the GDT no later than 30 days after a loan transaction occurred, and
all loan agreement(s) or documentation certifying the loan
transaction must be provided together with the notification. If the
enterprise fails to notify the GDT about the loan transaction or no
proper documentation is provided, the loan principal will be treated
as a deemed taxable income of the borrower and subject to the 20%
TOl.

Tax compliance and administration

Resident taxpayers must file an annual TOIl and/or minimum tax
return together with the financial statements and related-party
transaction table to the GDT within 3 months after the end of the fiscal
year.

Resident taxpayers are required to make monthly TOIl prepayments at
the rate of 1% on the monthly turnover inclusive of all taxes, except
VAT. The TOIl prepayments must be made by the 20" day of the
month following the month in which the tax liability arose. The TOI
prepayments can be used to offset against the annual TOl or minimum
tax liability at year-end. The TOI prepayments are not required for
the entities being under the TOI exemption period.
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Tax treaties

Cambodia signed double tax agreements (DTAs) with Singapore and
China in 2016 and with Brunei in 2017. However, it has yet been
ratified. As a potential development, the DTA with Thailand is under
the process of negotiation and is expected to be signed by 2017.

B.2 Personal income tax
Who is liable?

Resident and non-resident individuals are subject to Tax on Salary
(ToS) on income from their employment activities and withholding tax
on certain types of income. Resident individuals are subject to the
ToS on their worldwide employment income, while non-resident
individuals are subject to the ToS on their Cambodian-sourced
employment income only.

For tax purposes, an individual is considered to be a Cambodian
resident if the individual's residence or principal place of abode is in
Cambodia or if that individual has a physical presence in Cambodia for
183 days or more in any 12-month period.

Employment income
ToS is applicable to employment income which includes salary,
remuneration, wages, bonus, overtime and other compensation, both

in cash and in kind, including advances and loans.

Fringe benefits are subject to a separate tax called Tax on Fringe
Benefits (ToFB) which will be discussed below.

Salary and fringe benefits received in foreign currency are converted
to KHR for taxable income calculation purpose.
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The following categories of employment income are exempt from tax:
Reimbursements of employment-related expenses
Indemnity for a layoff within the limit provided in the Labor Law

Additional remuneration with social characteristics as indicated in
the Labor Law

Flat allowance for mission and travel expenses (per diem for field
work for employees)

Allowances for special uniforms or professional equipment

Salaries of members of the National Assembly and the Senate,
and employees of approved diplomatic and international aid
organizations

Employers must withhold ToS from resident employees at progressive
rates ranging from 0% to 20%. The following table presents the ToS
rates imposed on the monthly taxable salary of resident individuals.

Monthly taxable salary (KHR) Rate (%)
1,000,000 or less 0
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 5
1,500,001 to 8,500,000 10
8,500,001 to 12,500,000 15
12,500,001 or more 20

A non-resident employee is subject to tax at a flat rate of 20% on his
or her Cambodian-sourced income.

Tax on Fringe Benefits
The ToFB is applicable on taxable fringe benefits provided by an
employer, including the provision of, among other items, private use

of vehicles, accommodation, food, utilities, household personnel, low-
interest loans, discounted sales, educational assistance (except for
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employment-related training), insurance premiums and pension
contributions in excess of the levels provided by the Labor Law.

However, the following fringe benefits are exempt from the ToFB if
the company submits the allowance policy to the GDT: -

Travel allowance from residence to workplace and from
workplace to the residence, and furnishing living cost or housing
in the workplace area in compliance with the provisions of the
Labor Law

Meal allowance provided to all workers without any distinction on
positions or titles

Social security fund or social health fund within the limit as
provided by law

Insurance premiums on life or health provided to all workers
without any distinction on positions or titles

Child allowance or nursery expense as stipulated in the provisions
of the Labor Law

Severance pay (for employment termination) or indemnity (for
employment dismissal) within the limit as provided in the Labor
Law

The ToFB liability lies with the beneficiary. The fringe benefits are
taxable at the rate of 20% on the total value of the benefits provided.
For tax purposes, the value of the fringe benefits is the fair market
value inclusive of all taxes.

Self-employment and investment income

In principle, the investment incomes (e.q., profits realized by
individuals and profit sharing distributed to members of pass-through
entities that are not classified as legal entities, for example, an
ordinary partnership) are subject to tax at progressive rate ranging
from 0% to 20%. However, in practice, no mechanism currently exists
to tax the individuals earning such investment income.
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The progressive tax rates are presented below.

Annual taxable profit (KHR) Rate (%)
12,000,000 or less 0]
12,000,001 to 18,000,000 5
18,000,001 to 102,000,000 10
102,000,001 to 150,000,000 15
150,000,001 or more 20

Withholding tax is imposed on resident individuals at the following
rates: -
15% on royalties and services

4% on interest income on non-fixed term deposits at domestic
banks

6% on interest income on fixed term deposits at domestic banks
15% on interest income paid by resident taxpayers except banks
10% on rental income
Non-resident individuals will be subject to withholding tax at a flat rate
of 14% on the following types of incomes: -
Interest paid by a resident enterprise of Cambodia
Dividends distributed by a resident enterprise
Income from services performed in Cambodia

Compensation for management and technical services paid by a
resident person

Income from movable or immovable property, if such property is
situated in Cambodia

Royalties from the use, or right to use intangible property paid by
a resident/PE in Cambodia
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Gain from the sale of immovable property located in Cambodia or
from the transfer of any interest in immovable property situated
in Cambodia

Premiums from insurance of risks in Cambodia

Income from business activities carried on by a non-resident
through a PE in Cambodia

Gain from the sale of movable property which is part of the
business property of a PE in Cambodia

Capital gains

Currently, Cambodia does not have a mechanism to impose tax on
capital gains derived by individuals.

Deductions

Subject to certain conditions, an allowance for the spouse and minor
dependent children of a taxpayer of KHR 150,000 per person per
month is deductible.

Relief for foreign tax

With supporting documents, a Cambodian resident who receives
foreign-sourced salary and pays taxes according to a foreign tax law
will receive a tax credit against the ToS.

Tax filing and payment procedures

Individuals or employees are not required to file ToS and withholding
tax returns with the authorities. Employers and withholding agents
must withhold tax from payments to employees or income recipients
before making such payments, file monthly ToS and withholding tax
returns for each employee or other taxable income recipient, and
remit the due taxes to the tax authorities on their behalf.

Employers residing outside Cambodia may appoint a fiscal
representative (a locally registered company) in Cambodia to be in
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charge of withholding the ToS and remitting it to the Cambodian tax
authorities. If the appointed fiscal representative fails to withhold
ToS, such representative will be held responsible under Cambodian
law.

The monthly ToS and withholding tax returns must be filed with and
taxes must be remitted to the tax authorities by the 15" day of the
following month.

The submission of an annual ToS or personal income tax return is not
required in Cambodia.

B.3 Value Added Tax (VAT)

Resident taxpayers providing taxable supplies must register for VAT.
Taxable supplies include supplies of goods or services, the
appropriation of goods for own use, making gifts or supplying goods
and services at below cost and import of goods by Cambodian
taxpayers.

The standard rate of VAT is 10%. A 0% rate of VAT is applicable to
exports of goods and services including international transportation
of passengers and goods and services with respect to such
transportation. VAT is also applicable to enterprises in supporting
industries and subcontractors that supply certain goods and services
to exporters.

Expenses incurred from the following are not allowed to be treated as
input VAT: -
Recreation and entertainment
Purchase or import of certain petroleum products
Purchase or import of passenger vehicles with less than 10 seats
Mobile phone calls

The filing of VAT returns and payment of VAT must be made by the
20t day of the following month.

Doing Business in Cambodia 2017 63



B.4 Customs duties

Customs duties are levied on all imported goods. Most customs duties
are levied at one of the 4 rates: 0%, 7%, 15% or 35%. However, the
government may impose additional import duty surcharges on certain
imports that are expected to create the unfair competition with local
industries or imports that may erode the domestic market.

Certain agricultural goods exported from Cambodia, including natural
rubber, uncut gemstones, processed wood, fish and aquatic products
are subject to export duties at the rate ranging from 2% to 10%.
Export management fee is also imposed on specific exported items,
especially garment and textile products, which are the major exports
of Cambodia. Exporters of such exported items must submit the
Certificate of Origin form when they pay the export management fee.

All imported and exported goods are required to be declared through
the customs office. Documentation required includes the commercial
invoice, bill of lading, packing list, terminal handling receipt and
insurance certificate. For export purposes, an inspection report from
the Cambodia Import-Export Inspection and Fraud Repression
Directorate General (CAMCONTROL) is also required.

B.5 Other taxes
Stamp duty (registration tax)

Stamp duty, known as registration tax, will be levied on certain
instruments, including agreements and registration transactions.
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Instruments/Transactions Rate/Amount

Change of title deed or possessory 4% on the value of
rights of immovable property, such as immovable property
construction and land or investment of

capital in the form of immovable

property in a company

Change to title or possessory rights 4% on the value of
transportation or vehicles

Share transfers 0.1% of shares value

Contracts for the supply of goods or 0.1% of the contract value
services, which are funded by the state
budget

Legal documents, such as documents KHR 1 million
with respect to the establishment,

integration and dissolution of a

company

Other types of taxes
Cambodia imposes various other taxes, including the following: -

Specific Tax on Certain Merchandises and Service (STCMS) is
collected on certain products and services at the following rates:

10% on soft drinks and non-alcoholic products
20% on cigarettes

30% on beer

35% on wine

10% on entertainment and domestic and international air
tickets

3% on telephone services
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For certain locally manufactured products, the tax base for the
STCMS calculation is 90% of the selling price recorded in the
invoice to the customer excluding VAT, turnover tax and STCMS,
as the case may be.

Tax for Public Lighting is collected at a rate of 3% on the selling
price of alcoholic drinks and cigarettes inclusive of all taxes,
excluding Tax for Public Lighting and VAT.

Accommodation Tax is calculated at a rate of 2% on the
accommodation fee inclusive of other service fees and all taxes,
excluding Accommodation Tax and VAT.

Patent Tax ranges from KHR 400,000 to KHR 5 million depending
on the annual turnover. All enterprises registering for the patent
must pay Patent Tax annually by 31 March of the following year.

Fiscal Stamp Tax is levied on court documents, non-court
documents and other documents as specified by the law.

Tax on Immovable Property is collected annually at a rate of 0.1%
of the value of immovable property with a value exceeding KHR
100 million.

Tax on Unused Land is imposed at a rate of 2% of the market value
of the vacant land on which no construction is undertaken.

Tax on Means of Transportation is annually imposed on all
vehicles and means of transportation.
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C. Financial reporting and audit

e
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Method of accounting

For statutory reporting purposes, the financial statements must be
prepared on an accrual basis.

Accounting principles

The National Accounting Council (NAC), a regulatory body of the
Ministry of Economy and Finance (MEF), has fully adopted
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International
Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities
(IFRS for SMEs). As a result, the new Cambodian Standards will be
referred to as Cambodian International Financial Reporting Standards
(CIFRS) and Cambodian International Financial Reporting Standards
for Small and Medium-sized Entities (CIFRS for SMEs).

Publicly traded companies, financial institutions and large-sized
entities are required to comply with the CIFRS.
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Non-publicly traded companies that meet certain requirements are
required to have a statutory audit performed. Such companies must
comply with the CIFRS for SMEs or may choose to adopt the CIFRS.
While those that are not subject to the statutory audit requirement
are not required to comply with any specific accounting standards.

Disclosure requirements

The financial statements must consist of a balance sheet, income
statement, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, cash flow
statement and explanatory notes.

The financial statements and other supporting documents must be
prepared in the Khmer language and expressed in KHR. Companies
that carry on business with foreign companies or are subsidiaries of
foreign companies may be authorized to prepare accounting records
in English or in a currency other than KHR along with the accounting
records in the Khmer language and KHR currency in compliance with
the conditions set out by the MEF.

Audit requirements

Generally, companies or partnerships are only required to have their
financial statements audited by an independent auditor if they meet
2 of the following 3 criteria: -

Annual turnover of KHR 3 billion and above

Total assets of KHR 2 billion and above

100 or more employees
If an entity is subject to the audit requirement, the audit must be

carried out by the Kampuchea Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and Auditors (KICPAA) registered auditors.

However, all QIP registered companies are required to have their

financial statements audited by the KICPAA registered auditors,
regardless of size.
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Filing and reporting requirements

A partnership and company incorporated under the law of Cambodia
are required to file an annual declaration of its status with the
Business Registration Department of the MOC by the end of the fiscal
year.

The annual financial statements are required to be prepared within 3
months after the end of each fiscal year. There are no specified
deadlines for filing financial statements, other than banks and
insurance companies or financial institutions being required to submit
annual financial statements to the NBC and the MEF by the 315t of
March of the following year.

The financial statements must be approved and signed by directors,
and submitted to the shareholders at least 21 days prior to the annual
general meeting date.

Books and records keeping

The financial statements, corresponding ledgers and documentary
evidence are required to be kept for at least 10 years.

Professional associations

The NAC is responsible for examining and revising Cambodian
Accounting Standards (CASs) and accounting regulations.

The KICPAA, the professional accounting body of the MEF, is
responsible for regulating the organization and quality assurance
of the private accounting profession.

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Cambodia (SECC),
established under the Law on the Issuance and Trading of
Securities, occasionally announces notifications involving
accounting issues, primarily to standardize the financial reporting
practices of listed companies.
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D. Individuals

D.1  Social security contributions

There are 2 types of social security schemes in Cambodia: the
occupational risks scheme and the pension scheme. The occupational
risks scheme is currently being applied, while the pension scheme has
not yet been implemented.

The occupational risks scheme covers work-related accidents,
accidents commuting between home and the workplace and
occupational related diseases. Employers having 8 or more
employees must register with the National Social Security Fund and
make an occupational risks contribution of 0.8% on the monthly
average wage of each employee not exceeding KHR 1 million, i.e., a
maximum monthly contribution of KHR 8,000 per employee. The
occupational risks contributions are not refundable.
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D.2  Entryvisas

Foreign nationals must obtain valid entry visas to enter Cambodia.
However, this requirement does not apply to nationals of the ASEAN
member countries such as Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Philippines,
Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam.

Nationals of ASEAN countries may obtain an immigration stamp upon
arrival. This immigration stamp is valid for 14, 21 or 30 days,
depending on the nationality of the individual.

Cambodia has several types of entry visas, including business
(Category E), tourism (Category T) and diplomatic missions (Category
A).

All foreign nationals must obtain a business-entry visa in order to
work in Cambodia. Subject to the nationality of an applicant, visas
may be obtained from any Cambodian Embassy in the home country
or upon arrival in Cambodia.

After receiving a single-entry business visa to Cambodia, a multiple-
entry business visa with a validity of 1, 6 or 12 months can be
obtained from the Immigration Department of the Ministry of Interior.

D.3  Work permits

All foreign nationals who wish to work in Cambodia must obtain work
permits from the Cambodian Ministry of Labor and Vocational
Training (MLVT). To be eligible to obtain a work permit, a foreigner
must have a business visa.

An employer who has established an office and registered with the
MLVT in Cambodia is responsible for processing an application for an

employee's work permit.

There are 2 types of work permits: temporary work permit and
permanent work permit.
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Temporary work permit will be issued to the following foreigners: -

Staff and management specialists
Technical staff
Skilled workers

Service providers or other labourers
Permanent work permit will be issued to the following foreigners: -

Foreign immigrants recognized by the Ministry of Interior

Foreign investors, spouses and dependents recognized by the
CDC

Generally, it takes 1 - 3 months to obtain approval for a work permit.

The validity of the temporary work permit will not exceed that of the
approved visa (maximum 1 year), while the permanent work permit
shall be initially approved for 2 years.

To renew a work permit, an online application for renewal must be
submitted to the MLVT by the end of March of each year, before the work
permit becomes expired.

The spouse and dependents of a work permit holder must apply for
single-entry business visas and multiple-entry business visas
thereafter, which permit them to live in Cambodia.

D.4  Foreign quota
Prior to applying for foreign work permit, the employers of the
foreign individual shall apply for the approval from the MLVT on the

foreign quota so that they can employ foreigner to work for their
entity.
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The MLVT limits the number of expatriate employees. An employer
is allowed to hire foreign employees up to 10% of the total number of
Cambodian employees depending on his/her position as follows: -

Proportion of

Position .
foreign employees
Office employees 3%
Specialists, skilled or technical 6%
employees
Unskillful employees 1%

D.5 Residence permits

Any person who is not a Cambodian national is required to obtain a
resident card from the Ministry of Interior. There are 2 types of
resident card: temporary and permanent resident cards.

Temporary resident cards

Temporary resident card is valid for a period of 2 years and can be
extended every 2 years. This type of resident card is issued to
employees performing managerial, technical or specialized services.
Permanent resident cards

Permanent resident cards are issued to foreign investors who have
been authorized by the CDC to invest in Cambodia and their family

members. This type of resident card is also issued to other foreigners
who are recognized by the Ministry of Interior.
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Appendix

List of government agencies in Cambodia and contact details

Government agencies Contact details
Business Registration Lot 19-61, MOC Road (113B Road),
Department, Ministry of Phum Teuk Thla, Sangkat Teuk Thla,
Commerce Khan Sen Sok, Phnom Penh

Tel: (+855 23) 866 048/993 188
Website: www.moc.gov.kh

Ministry of Economy and | St.92, Sangkat Wat Phnom, Khan Daun
Finance Penh, Phnom Penh

Tel: (+855 23) 724 664
Website: www.mef.gov.kh
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Government agencies

Contact details

General Department of
Taxation

Lot 522-524, Corner Russian
Federation & Mao Tsetong Blvd. Toek
Laak I, Tuol Kork, Phnom Penh

Tel: (+855 23) 886 708
Website: www.tax.gov.kh

Council of Development
in Cambodia

Government Palace, Sisowath Quay,
Wat Phnom, Phnom Penh

Tel:
(+855 23) 427 97 (Administrative)

(+855 23) 981 154 (Cambodia
Investment Board)

(+855 23) 992 355 (Cambodian
Special Economic Zones Board)
Website: www.cambodiainvestment.gov.kh

Ministry of Labor and
Vocational Training

3 Russia Federation Blvd., Phnom Penh
Tel: (+855 23) 884 375
Website: www.mlvt.gov.kh

National Bank of
Cambodia

22-24 Norodom Blvd., Phnom Penh
Tel: (+855 23) 722 563/722 221
Website: www.nbc.org.kh

Ministry of Industry and
Handicraft

45 Norodom Blvd., Phnom Penh
Tel: (+855 23) 210 141
Website: www.mih.gov.kh

Ministry of Interior

275 Norodom Blvd., Phnom Penh
Tel: (+855 23) 721 905/726 052
Website: www.interior.gov.kh

Immigration Department

Confederation de la Russie, in front of
Phnom Penh Airport, Phnom Penh

Tel: (+855 23) 890 380
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Abbreviations

APTDD Additional Profit Tax on Dividend Distribution

ASEAN Association of Southeast Nations

CAMCONTROL Cambodia Import-Export Inspection and
Fraud Repression Directorate General

CASs Cambodian Accounting Standards

CDC Council for the Development of Cambodia

CIFRS Cambodian International Financial Reporting
Standards

CIFRS for SMEs Cambodian International Financial Reporting
Standards for Small and Medium-sized
Entities

CoC Certificate of Compliance

DTA Double Tax Agreement

GDT General Department of Taxation

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
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IFRS for SMEs

KHR
KICPAA

LLC
MEF
MLVT
MOC
NAC
NBC
PE
QIPs
SECC

SEZ
STCMS

ToFB
TOI
ToS
VAT
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International Financial Reporting Standards
for Small and Medium-sized Entities

Riel

Kampuchea Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and Auditors

Limited Liability Company

Ministry of Economy and Finance
Ministry of Labor and Vocational Training
Ministry of Commerce

National Accounting Council

National Bank of Cambodia

Permanent establishment

Qualified Investment Projects

Securities and Exchange Commission of
Cambodia

Special Economic Zone

Specific Tax on Certain Merchandises and
Service

Tax on Fringe Benefits
Tax on Income

Tax on Salary

Value added tax
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